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INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs have sued under ERISA and seek pension benefits under the 

Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan (“Plan”).  Although 

Plaintiffs try to allege various claims arising from the denial of pension benefits, 

each claim is directed toward the same improper end – obtaining benefits for 

participants who do not meet the Plan’s criteria for vesting.  Under the terms of the 

Plan, the applicable provisions of ERISA and controlling circuit law (including the 

recent Eleventh Circuit order in Gilley v. Monsanto Co., Inc.), Plaintiffs fail to 

state a claim upon which relief may be granted, and the action should be dismissed. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The following facts are taken from Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint 

(“SAC”) and, solely for purposes of this motion, are accepted as true: 

A. The Parties and the Claims 

Plaintiffs are former employees who worked at the Sand Mountain plant in 

Marshall County, Alabama, a manufacturing facility for nylon and polyester (SAC 

¶¶ 2, 18-19).  Plaintiff Robert H. Heptinstall recalls beginning work on August 8, 

1972, but acknowledges that company records reflect August 30, 1972 (id. ¶ 20-

21).  The remaining plaintiffs all began work that same month (Wendell Sims on 

August 16; Larry Collins on August 23; Fred Works on August 30; Thomas 

Campbell on August 16; and Russell Newman and Jacky Blackwell on an 
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unspecified date in August) (id. ¶¶ 23-29).  The SAC alleges that the Sand 

Mountain plant stopped production in February 1981, at which time the employees 

were put on layoff status (id. ¶¶59-61).  Plaintiffs purport to represent themselves 

and a would-be class of other former employees (id. ¶¶ 138-144). 

The Defendants that bring the instant motion are Monsanto Company, Inc. 

(“Monsanto”), the Plan, the Committee, Monsanto Company Employee Benefits 

Executive Committee (“Executive Committee”)1/ and Pharmacia Corporation 

(“Pharmacia”) (collectively, “Monsanto”).  Plaintiffs have also recently added 

claims against Solutia, Inc. and the Solutia, Inc. Employees’ Plan. Plaintiffs allege 

a series of transactions among the companies that are matters of public record and 

not pertinent to this motion (id. ¶¶ 8-17). 

The SAC contains six counts.  Count One alleges that Plaintiffs were 

wrongly denied benefits under ERISA §§ 502(a)(1)(B) and 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. 

§§ 1132(a)(1)(B) and 1132(a)(3).  Count Two alleges interference with Plaintiffs’ 

ERISA rights by: (1) discriminating against lower-paid participants in favor of 

highly compensated participants by amending the plan to exclude overtime from 

vesting calculations and (2) closing the Sand Mountain plant.  Count III alleges 

various improper acts that supposedly violate the fiduciary duties contained in 

                                                 
1/ No entity known as the “Monsanto Company Employee Benefits Executive Committee” 
exists.  Because this is a motion to dismiss, however, Defendants do not ask the Court to resolve 
this dispute.    
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ERISA § 404, 29 U.S.C. § 1104.  Count Four alleges that Defendants reduced 

benefits in violation of ERISA § 204(g), 29 U.S.C. § 1054(g), by adopting a rule 

for the calculation of hours of service under the Plan.  Count Five alleges that 

Defendants are estopped from denying pension benefits based on the Plan’s terms.  

Count Six is not an independent cause of action but seeks merely to certify a class 

based on Counts One, Two, Three and Four; if these Counts are dismissed, Count 

Six must follow. 

B. The Plan 

The Plan provides pension benefits for salaried employees of Monsanto 

(SAC ¶ 19).  The Plan was originally adopted effective January 1, 1951 (Apdx A, 

§ 1.1).2/  Thereafter, it was amended or restated from time to time (id.).  A 

participant’s rights under the Plan are determined by the Plan document in place at 

the time the participant separated from the employer, either because of retirement 

or cessation of employment (id.).  When Plaintiffs left employment in 1981, the 

Plan in place was the one that was amended and restated effective January 1, 1981 

                                                 
2/ The SAC refers to the Plan and relies upon its terms to demand benefits.  Thus, it is 
appropriate to consider the plan documents and other central documents referenced in the SAC 
(such as the Committee’s letter explaining the basis for denial of his appeal) as part of the 
pleadings for purposes of a motion to dismiss.  The consideration of these documents does not 
convert this motion into a motion for summary judgment.  Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield 
of Florida, Inc.,  116 F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997)(“…[W]here the plaintiff refers to certain 
documents in the complaint and those documents are central to the plaintiff’s claim, then the 
Court may consider the documents part of the pleading for purposes of Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, 
and the defendant’s attaching such documents to the motion to dismiss will not require 
conversion of the motion into a motion for summary judgment.”); Bickley v. Caremark Rx, Inc., 
461 F.3d 1325,   1329 n. 7 (11th Cir. 2006) (same). 
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(“1981 Plan”) (id.).  See also Gilley v. Monsanto Co., 490 F.3d 848 (11th Cir. 

2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 1086 (2008). 

For salaried employees who terminate employment before retirement, such 

as Plaintiffs, the requirements for a pension are described in “Section 6 –

Termination Before Retirement.”  Section 6.1 provides that such employees are 

entitled to a pension when they reach retirement age, provided they have 

“completed ten years of Vesting Service” (Apdx A, § 6.1; SAC ¶63). 

The Plan defines a participant’s “Vesting Service” as “the total of his years 

of service and fractional years of service” as determined in accordance with rules 

set out in the Section 17 (Apdx A, § 17.1; SAC ¶37 (citing identical definition 

under 1976 Plan)).  Under these rules, a “participant receives one year of Vesting 

Service for each Plan Year during which he completes at least 1,000 ‘Hours of 

Service’ (as defined in Section 17.5)” (Apdx A, § 17.1(a)(i); SAC ¶37 (citing 

nearly identical provision of the 1976 Plan)).  The Plan further provides that an 

employee who works less than 1,000 Hours of Service in a year is entitled to a 

fractional portion of a year equal to the Hours of Service earned that year divided 

by the Standard Work Year defined in the Plan (Apdx A, § 17.1(a)(ii)).  The Plan 

defines the “Standard Work Year” as “2,080 Hours of Service” (Apdx A, § 17.7). 

Pursuant to Department of Labor regulations promulgated under ERISA and 

intended to simplify service calculations and recordkeeping, the Plan specifies that 
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the Hours of Service for salaried employees may be based on a flat rate per semi-

monthly period without regard for actual hours worked: 

“In determining the Hours of Service of any employee who is 
compensated by the Employers or the Subsidiaries on a basis not 
dependent on the number of hours worked by such employee, the Plan 
Committee may credit such employee with 95 Hours of Service for 
each semi-monthly payroll period [190 hours per month] in which 
such employee is directly or indirectly compensated by the Employers 
or Subsidiaries, or may utilize such other method of estimating the 
Hours of Service of such employee during such period as may be 
authorized under the applicable regulations” (Apdx A, § 17.5). See 
also 29 C.F.R. § 2530.200b-3(e)(iii). 

The Plan further provides that, during a period of absence from work during layoff, 

a participant will only accrue “Hours of Service” for the first 12 months of the 

layoff (Apdx A § 17.5(v)). 

Under these provisions, the Vesting Service for an employee who works for 

a portion of a year is calculated as follows: 

95 Hours per Semi-Monthly Period  x  2  x  # of months  =  Years of   
  2080 Hours in Standard Work Year   Vesting Service 

For example, a salaried employee who worked for 2 months would be entitled to 

380 Hours of Service (95 x 2 x 2) divided by 2080 Hours, which equals 0.183 

years of Vesting Service. 

The Plan provides that the Committee has the power, right and duty to 

determine all questions concerning administration and management under the Plan, 

including the determination of participants’ eligibility for benefits (Apdx A 
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§12.2(a)).  The Plan also provides that “any interpretation of the provisions of the 

Plan and any decision on any matter within the discretion of the Plan Committee 

made by the Plan Committee in good faith shall be binding on all persons”  (Apdx 

A §12.5), and that the Plan Committee will afford a participant whose claim for 

benefits is denied a full and fair review of its decision, if so requested (Apdx A 

§12.6). 

C. Plaintiff Heptinstall’s Application For Benefits And 
The Committee’s Determination That He Lacked Sufficient 
Vesting Service          

More than twenty years after he left employment, Plaintiff Heptinstall 

asserted a claim for pension benefits.  On February 12, 2004, he was informed that 

he did not meet the necessary service requirements to earn a vested benefit (SAC 

¶ 78).  The administrator in 2004 credited Mr. Heptinstall with 9.685 years of 

service, as follows:  (1) nine 95-hour periods, or .411 years in 1972 (855 Hours of 

Service/2080 hours in the Plan’s defined Standard Work Year); (2) nine years of 

service for 1973-1981; and (3) .274 years of service in 1982 (six 95-hour semi-

monthly periods/2080 hours) (id.).3/ Because he lacked the required ten years of 

Vesting Service, his claim was denied. 

                                                 
3/ The SAC identifies some confusion over Mr. Heptinstall’s termination date.  At one point 
during the administrative appeal, the Secretary of the Committee credited him with Vesting 
Service only through January 1, 1982.  SAC ¶ 85.  The Secretary subsequently determined that 
this was error, as Mr. Heptinstall terminated on “11/1/1982,” not “01/1/1982.” SAC ¶ 87. 
Because the Plan authorizes Vesting Service credit only “for up to twelve months” of layoff, he 
was ultimately credited with Vesting Service through the end of February, 1982 (the one year 
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On January 23, 2006, Heptinstall appealed the denial of pension benefits to 

the Committee, invoking the Plan’s appeal procedure (id. ¶ 80).  He did not address 

the closing of the Sand Mountain Plant or the alleged estoppel as part of his 

administrative appeal.  Rather, he contended that:  (1) the administrator used the 

wrong dates of service to calculate his Vesting Service (arguing that his start date 

was August 8, 1972, rather than August 30), (2) he earned three years of Vesting 

Service credit while on layoff, and (3) his Vesting Service should have been 

calculated on the basis of the actual number of hours he worked in 1972, rather 

than the 95-Hour Rule equivalency (SAC ¶ 80, 86; Apdx B). 

The Committee affirmed the administrator’s conclusion that Mr. Heptinstall  

lacked the required ten years of Vesting Service.  Considering the materials 

provided by Mr. Heptinstall and company records, the Committee explained in its 

letter of denial dated April 27, 2006 that:  (1) company records established Mr. 

Heptinstall’s dates of service as August 30, 1972 through February 27, 1981 (when 

he was laid off), (2) he earned only twelve months of Vesting Service credit during 

layoff – not the three years claimed by Mr. Heptinstall – pursuant to Section 

17.5(v) of the Plan, and (3) Vesting Service was properly calculated using the 95-

hour rule equivalency.  As to its third conclusion, the Committee explained that the 

                                                                                                                                                             
anniversary of his lay-off date).  This error was not material to the appeal, as it was resolved in 
Mr. Heptinstall’s favor and, under either calculation, Mr. Heptinstall had less than 10 years of 
Vesting Service.  See SAC ¶¶ 84, 85. 
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95-hour rule was the appropriate method to calculate his service, because: (1) it is 

contained in the governing version of the Plan, (2) it is more generous than the 

elapsed time equivalency that it replaced, and (3) no company records exist that 

reflect the number of hours Mr. Heptinstall worked in 1972.4/ (Apdx C).  

Concluding that he lacked ten years of Vesting Service under the method of 

calculation prescribed by the Plan, the Committee affirmed the denial of pension 

benefits (id. ¶¶ 79-85).5/ 

D. The Other Plaintiffs’ Failure To File Administrative Appeals 

Plaintiff Collins alleges that he inquired about his pension over the telephone 

and was later notified in a letter dated August 25, 2004, that he lacked ten years of 

Vesting Service (SAC ¶¶ 105-108).  There is no allegation that Collins appealed 

this decision or that he has exhausted his administrative remedies.  The allegations 

regarding the remaining Plaintiffs are even more incomplete.  There is no 

allegation that any of the other Plaintiffs applied for benefits, have been denied 

benefits, or have in any way worked through the Plan’s appeals process so as to 

                                                 
4/ The Committee also noted that the Social Security records submitted by Mr. Heptinstall 
do not support his contention that he actually worked 1,000 hours that year, in any event (Apdx 
C). 
 
5/ Although the Committee affirmed the administrator’s decision that Heptinstall lacked ten 
years Vesting Service, it did disagree with the amount of Vesting Service the administrator 
awarded to Mr. Heptinstall for 1982.  The administrator credited him with six 95-hour periods of 
employment (through the end of March, 1982), but the Committee found that Mr. Heptinstall had 
been laid off at the end of February, 1981, and that he was only entitled to Vesting Service credit 
for a year thereafter, pursuant to the terms of the Plan.  The Committee, thus, awarded him 380 
hours of Vesting Service for 1982 (four 95-hour periods, or .183 years). Apdx C.  
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exhaust their administrative remedies.  Plaintiffs allege that pursuit of the 

administrative process would be futile because the Committee has and will apply 

the Plan’s 95-Hour Rule to calculate their Vesting Service (id. ¶ 121). 

E. The Calculation Of Plaintiffs’ Vesting Service 

1. Heptinstall 

Accepting the Plaintiffs’ alleged employment record for purposes of this 

Motion, Heptinstall would be would be entitled to 9.64 years of Vesting Service, 

calculated as follows pursuant to the terms of the Plan: 

Aug. - Dec. 1972: .457 years (10 x 95 / 2080) 

1973-1981:  9 years 

Jan. - Feb. 1982: .183 years (4 x 95 / 2080 -  with Vesting    

    Service ceasing to accrue at the twelve-month   

    anniversary of his February, 1981 lay-off) 

Total:   9.64 years 

2. Other Plaintiffs 

The SAC alleges that the other plaintiffs began working for Monsanto on 

various dates in the second half of August, 1972 (SAC ¶¶23-28).  While it does not 

specify their termination date, the SAC avers that the plant where each worked 

ceased operation in February 1981, resulting in the layoff of the employees (SAC 

¶59).  Pursuant to the 95-Hour Rule detailed in the Plan, the other plaintiffs would 
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be entitled – at most – to 95 fewer hours than Mr. Heptinstall (or .046 fewer years, 

because they were allegedly hired in the second half of August and Mr. Heptinstall 

claims to have been hired in the first half).  Because each plaintiff lacks sufficient 

service to earn a pension under the terms of the Plan, Monsanto moves to dismiss 

on that and other grounds as described below. 

ARGUMENT 

A. The Governing Legal Standard 

Rule 12(b)(6) provides for dismissal when the complaint fails to allege a 

claim upon which relief may be granted.  For purposes of the motion to dismiss, 

the complaint must be construed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff and 

factual allegations taken as true.  Brooks v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, 

Inc., 116 F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997).  But while well-pleaded allegations of 

fact must be accepted as true, “conclusory allegations, unwarranted deductions of 

facts or legal conclusions masquerading as facts will not prevent dismissal.”  

Oxford Asset Mgmt., Ltd. v. Jaharis, 297 F.3d 1182, 1188 (11th Cir. 2002). 

B. All Claims by Plaintiffs Other Than Heptinstall – and Certain of 
Heptinstall’s Claims – Should Be Dismissed For Failure To 
Exhaust Administrative Remedies.       

ERISA requires that benefits plans provide procedures for making claims 

and for appealing initial benefits decisions. 29 U.S.C. § 1133.  Failure to allege 

exhaustion of these administrative remedies requires dismissal under Eleventh 

Circuit law.  E.g., Byrd v. MacPapers, Inc., 961 F.2d 157, 160-61 (11th Cir. 1992) 
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(affirming district court’s dismissal of ERISA complaint for failure to allege 

exhaustion of administrative remedies).  The Eleventh Circuit has explained that 

the exhaustion requirements are critical because they “reduce the number of 

frivolous lawsuits under ERISA, minimize the cost of dispute resolution, enhance 

the plan’s trustees’ ability to carry out their fiduciary duties expertly and efficiently 

by preventing premature judicial intervention in the decisionmaking process, and 

allow prior fully considered actions by pension plan trustees to assist courts if the 

dispute is eventually litigated.”  Mason v. Continental Group, Inc., 763 F.2d 1219, 

1227 (11th Cir. 1985).  Exhaustion is also important because, as the Eleventh 

Circuit observed in Gilley, courts are limited to reviewing the decisions of 

administrators for abuse of discretion.  490 F.3d at 856-57.  For these reasons, the 

exhaustion requirement is “strictly enforced.”  Perrino v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. 

Co., 209 F.3d 1309, 1315-16 (11th Cir. 2000). 

Here, Plaintiffs Sims, Collins, Works, Campbell, Newman, and Blackwell 

failed to exhaust their administrative remedies, and Plaintiff Sims, Works, 

Campbell, Newman, and Blackwell each filed suit before even making a claim for 

benefits.  While Heptinstall made a claim for benefits and appealed it to the 

Committee, he failed to raise the discrimination claim that forms the basis of Count 

Two, or the estoppel claim asserted by Count Five (see SAC ¶¶ 77-92; Apdx B).  

Dismissal of each of these un-exhausted claims is required.  See Perrino, 209 F.3d 
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at 1315 (finding plaintiffs failed to exhaust claims that they were improperly 

denied benefits and that administrator violated its fiduciary duties). 

Plaintiffs try to avoid the exhaustion requirement by asserting that it would 

be futile, but their allegation is plainly inadequate. They assert that a claim for 

administrative review would be futile “in light of defendants’ consistent position 

that they can employ the ‘95 Hour Rule,’ or any other equivalency under ERISA, 

to recalculate accrued benefits and hours of service for 1972” (SAC ¶ 121).  Such 

bare allegations of futility have been rejected time and again by the Eleventh 

Circuit.  E.g., Bickley v. Caremark Rx, Inc., 461 F.3d 1325, 1330 (11th Cir. 2006); 

Springer v. Wal-Mart Assocs’ Group Health Plan, 908 F.2d 897, 901 (11th Cir. 

1990) (quoting Makaer v. Health Care Corp., 872 F.2d 80, 83 (4th Cir. 1989)). 

Plaintiffs’ assertion of futility is nothing more than a claim that the 

Committee will apply the Plan-provided 95-Hour Rule and, therefore, Plaintiffs 

would lose an appeal to the Committee.  If such allegation were sufficient, the 

exhaustion requirement would have no meaning; any plaintiffs that expected to 

lose would be exempt from administrative review.  Spivey v. Southern Co., 427 F. 

Supp. 2d 1144, 1154-55 (N.D. Ga. 2006) explains the inadequacy of Plaintiffs’ 

allegation as follows: 

Futility does not arise in any instance where an ERISA fiduciary has 
indicated that it perceives little merit in the participant’s underlying 
claim. Were that the rule, the exhaustion defense would hardly be a 
defense at all-virtually any action in which an ERISA fiduciary 
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bothered to appear and defend on the merits would be permitted to 
proceed despite the absence of exhaustion. The purposes advanced by 
the exhaustion requirement, which the Eleventh Circuit has described 
as ‘compelling,’ would go unserved.  

 Rather, in this Circuit, courts have consistently equated the 
concept of futility with the inability of a litigant to present his or her 
claim for administrative review and to have that claim considered, 
without reference to the probable outcome of the administrator’s 
review” (internal citations omitted). 

Requiring Plaintiffs to follow the full administrative process fully serves the 

purposes of the exhaustion requirement.  A review of their work histories and the 

Committee’s consideration of any arguments and materials that Plaintiffs submit 

would result either in allowance of their claims or the creation of an administrative 

record that would save judicial resources in the event subsequent lawsuits are filed.  

Mason, 763 F.2d at 1227.  Cf. Lee v. Blue Cross/ Blue Shield, 10 F.3d 1547, 1550 

(11th Cir. 1994) (review of plan administrator’s decision is limited to the 

administrative record).  Because they have failed to exhaust their administrative 

remedies, all claims of Plaintiffs Sims, Collins, Works, Campbell, Newman, and 

Blackwell should be dismissed, as well as Counts Two and Five for Heptinstall. 

C. Count One Fails To State A Claim For Benefits Because Plaintiffs 
Did Not Obtain The Required Ten Years Of Vesting Service 
Under The Terms Of The Plan and Because Payment Of Benefits 
Is Not “Appropriate Equitable Relief” Under ERISA § 502(a)(3).  

Count One relies alternately on ERISA §§ 502(a)(1)(B) or 502(a)(3), but 

neither provides a claim under Plaintiffs’ allegations.  The Supreme Court has 

stated repeatedly that ERISA’s “carefully crafted and detailed enforcement scheme 
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provides ‘strong evidence that Congress did not intend to authorize other remedies 

that it simply forgot to incorporate expressly.’”  Mertens v. Hewitt Assocs., 508 

U.S. 248, 254 (1993) (quoting Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Russell, 473 

U.S. 134, 146-47 (1985)). Thus, a participant’s claims must fall within one of the 

remedies provided by ERISA § 502 or it is preempted.  See Pilot Life Ins. Co. v. 

Dedeaux, 481 U.S. 41, 52 (1987) (dismissing as pre-empted claim alleging 

improper processing of claim for benefits).  Neither of the sections relied upon by 

plaintiffs state a claim in the present circumstances. 

1. Plaintiffs Fail To State A Claim For Benefits Under ERISA  
§ 502(a)(1)(B). 

Under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B), a participant may sue “to recover benefits due 

to him under the terms of his plan, to enforce his rights under the terms of the plan, 

or to clarify his rights to future benefits under the terms of the plan.”  29 U.S.C. 

§ 1132(a)(1)(B) (emphasis supplied).  ERISA is emphatic that any claim under 

§ 502(a)(1)(B) depends upon a right to benefits “under the terms of the plan.”  

Green v. Holland, 480 F.3d 1216, 1223-24 (11th Cir. 2007) (Section 502(a)(1)(B) 

claims governed by terms of plan); Hunt v. Hawthorne Assocs., Inc., 119 F.3d 888, 

891 (11th Cir. 1997) (noting the cornerstone of an ERISA plan is the written 

instrument).  Here, the terms of the Monsanto Plan require ten years of Vesting 

Service to obtain a pension and provide specific instructions on the calculation of 

Vesting Service.  (Apdx A § 6.1).  Specifically, the 1981 Plan provides that 
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participants are credited with 95 Hours of Vesting Service for each semi-monthly 

period of employment (id. § 17.5). 

Department of Labor regulations promulgated under ERISA permit plans to 

use “equivalencies” – rather than actual hours – in computing hours of service for 

participation, vesting, and benefit accrual purposes.  “These equivalencies provide 

employers with alternate methods for determining an employee’s hours of service.  

Generally, they free the employer from keeping an actual tally of every hour 

worked and allow employers to derive an ‘hours worked’ figure, for example, on 

the basis of an employee’s days of employment, weeks of employment, or months 

of employment.”  Johnson v. Buckley, 356 F.3d 1067, 1072 (9th Cir. 2004). “[T]he 

equivalencies lessen the administrative burden for both employers and employees 

of maintaining compliance with the 1,000-hour method.” Id.  See also 29 C.F.R. 

§ 2530.200b-3(c)(1) (explaining purposes of the equivalencies). See also Gilley, 

490 F.3d at 857-58 (recognizing that plans may elect to adopt and use approved 

equivalencies). 

The regulations give the employer flexibility in selecting among several 

equivalency methods.  29 C.F.R. § 2530.200b-3(c)(1) and (2).  A plan that uses the 

semi-monthly equivalency method must credit an employee with 95 hours of 

service for each semi-monthly period in which he or she earns at least one hour of 
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service.  29 C.F.R. § 2530.200b-3(e)(1)(iii). The Plan uses the 95-hour rule (Apdx 

A § 17.5). 

Under the 95-hour rule, Plaintiffs accumulated at most 950 Hours of Service 

for the ten semi-monthly 95-hour periods during which each was allegedly 

employed in 1972.  Because the total hours are less than 1000, Plaintiffs’ Vesting 

Service for that year is calculated by dividing the number of Hours of Service by 

the Standard Work year defined in the Plan (2080 Hours) – for a total of, at most, 

.457 years of Vesting Service.  Each is credited with 9 years of Vesting Service for 

the years 1973 through 1981.  Each is, likewise, credited with 95 hours of Vesting 

Service for the first four semi-monthly periods of 1982 (until the one year 

anniversary of their lay-off date, at the end of February 1982).  This yields a 

maximum of 9.64 years of Vesting Service – short of the ten years of Vesting 

Service required to earned a vested pension. 6/ 

Plaintiffs try to avoid the terms of the Plan – while simultaneously seeking 

benefits under the Plan – by referring to selected provisions of the 1976 Plan and 

the Summary Plan Description (“SPD”) relating thereto (e.g., SAC ¶¶34-43).  The 

precise method relied upon by Plaintiffs is nowhere described in their allegations, 
                                                 
6/ In reality, each is likely entitled to even less credit.  For instance, all plaintiffs other than 
Heptinstall aver that they were hired in the second half of August 1972, and therefore earn only 
nine periods of credit for that year.  Although Heptinstall alleges a “recollection” that he started 
on August 8, he acknowledges that company records – which are controlling under the terms of 
the Plan – reflect a start date of August 30 (Apdx A § 12.4; SAC ¶¶20-21).   Regardless, each 
Plaintiff lacks the requisite ten years of Vesting Service. 
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but the suggestion seems to be that under the 1976 Plan overtime, holidays and 

perhaps other hours must be counted toward vesting service (SAC ¶¶40-41) and, 

therefore, Plaintiffs earned a full year of vesting service despite working just four 

months and a few days in 1972. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations fail as a matter of law for at least two reasons.  First, 

as the Eleventh Circuit recently recognized in the related Gilley action, the 1981 

Plan governs the claims of employees who separated from Monsanto at the time of 

the closing of Sand Mountain, as this was the plan in place at the time of their 

separation. 490 F.3d at 858-59.  Second, even under the 1976 Plan, overtime, 

holidays and such were not used to calculate vesting service.  The 1976 Plan used 

another equivalency method, namely the “elapsed time” method (see SAC ¶¶ 36, 

91;  Apdx B; Apdx. D § 18.5; 490 F.3d at 852-53).  This method calculated 

Vesting Service essentially on a calendar basis, taking account of the start and 

ending dates, and did not use hours worked in its calculation. See generally 26 

C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7(a)(1)(i) (introduction to elapsed time rules) and § 1.410(a)-

7(d)(1)(ii) (vesting provisions of elapsed time rules).  Plaintiffs ignore this 

provision of the Plan when they insist on looking at some alternative – and 

unspecified – method for calculating vesting service.7/ 

                                                 
7/  Plaintiff did not earn 10 years of Vesting Service credit under Monsanto’s elapsed time.  
See 480 F.3d at 852-53 (explaining the elapsed time was calculated as follows:  (calendar days of 
employment / 365 days) x 2,080 hours).  For Mr. Heptinstall, that calculation yields 826.3 hours 
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The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals recently affirmed that the Plan was 

entitled to adopt and utilize the 95-hour equivalency to measure Vesting Service. 

In a nearly identical case brought by the same counsel, Wendell Gilley (who also 

worked at Sand Mountain from August of 1972 until his lay-off in early 1981) 

initially urged that he should be credited with Vesting Service for four months of 

employment in 1972 on the basis of actual hours worked, rather than the 95-hour 

equivalency provided by the Plan.  After rejecting motions to dismiss and for 

summary judgment arguing (as here) that the Plan had the right to elect the use of 

an equivalency, Judge Propst conducted a hearing to determine the actual number 

of hours Mr. Gilley worked in 1972.  After the hearing, when it was clear based on 

existing Social Security records that he could not have worked 1,000 hours that 

year, Gilley’s counsel urged that he should be allowed to choose another, more 

generous, federally-approved equivalency that was never used by the Plan, and 

Judge Propst agreed.  490 F.3d at 854-55. The Eleventh Circuit subsequently 

reversed Judge Propst’s order, holding that the Plan was entitled to adopt and use 

the 95-Hour equivalency to calculate Vesting Service.  Id. at 857-59.  Just as the 

Plan was entitled to adopt and utilize the 95-Hour equivalency, its prior election of 

the elapsed time rules (an equivalency based on dates of employment) is binding.  

Id. at 857 (“A plan may use any of the equivalencies permitted under this section, 

                                                                                                                                                             
– short of the 1,000 hours needed for a year of Vesting Service credit for that year.  The rest of 
Plaintiffs – who were hired after August 8 – would earn even less service that year. 
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or the elapsed time method of crediting service . . . That is exactly what the Plan 

did in this case. . . ERISA permitted it to do so.”) (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 2530.200b-

3(b)). 

Thus, Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for benefits regardless of whether the 

1976 or 1981 Plan terms are applied, and Count One should be dismissed as a 

matter of law. 

2. Plaintiffs Fail To State A Claim Under ERISA § 502(a)(3). 

Recognizing the problems with their claim under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B), 

Plaintiffs plead in the alternative that they are entitled to relief under § 502(a)(3), 

which provides that a participant may sue to enjoin violations of ERISA or for 

“other appropriate equitable relief.”  29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3).  But controlling 

Supreme Court authority directs that an award of benefits is impermissible under 

ERISA §502(a)(3) because that section may be used only to award “appropriate 

equitable relief” where no other form of relief provided by § 502 is applicable.  

Varity Corp. v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489, 507-15 (1996).  In Great-West Life & 

Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 209-220 (2002), the Supreme Court 

relied upon ERISA’s “carefully crafted and detailed enforcement scheme” to hold 

that a claim for recovery of money is not equitable relief authorized by ERISA 

§ 502(a)(3), despite the plaintiffs’ characterization of the claim as “restitution.”  

Sereboff v. Mid Atlantic Medical Services, Inc., 547 U.S. 356 (2006), confirms 
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these holdings.  In Sereboff, the Court held that § 502(a)(3) allowed a plan 

administrator to bring suit to enforce the terms of the plan and to recover funds that 

had been set aside in trust from a tort recovery.  The Court in Sereboff explicitly 

distinguished Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, on the grounds that 

the claim by a fiduciary for equitable restitution in Sereboff, unlike Great-West, 

sought an equitable lien against “specifically identifiable funds” that were “within 

the possession and control” of the participants. 547 U.S. at 364-65.  The Eleventh 

Circuit and other circuits have applied these Supreme Court authorities to reject 

claims for benefits under  ERISA § 502(a)(3).8/ 

Plaintiffs have tried to dress up their claim for benefits as one in equity – 

seeking equitable relief “including but not limited to a declaration that they are 

entitled to future benefits and/or benefits under the Plan” (SAC ¶ 125), 

“clarification” of the Plan, and a judicial determination of plaintiffs’ entitlement to 
                                                 
8/ See also Crosby  v. Bowater Inc. Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees of Great N. 
Paper Inc., 382 F.3d 587, 589 (6th Cir. 2004) (affirming dismissal of a claim for monetary relief 
in the form of a refund as improper under ERISA §502(a)(3)), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 976 (2005); 
Ogden v. Blue Bell Creameries, Inc., 348 F.3d 1284,1286-88 (11th Cir. 2003) (holding that 
plaintiff may not pursue claim under ERISA §502(a)(3) even though claim for benefits under 
ERISA §502(a)(1) was barred by res judicata); Katz v. Comprehensive Plan of Group Ins., 197 
F.3d 1084 (11th Cir. 1999) (upholding summary judgment on claim under ERISA §502(a)(3) 
following plaintiff’s unsuccessful pursuit of claim for benefits under ERISA §502(a)(1));  
Wilkins v. Baptist Healthcare Sys., Inc., 150 F.3d 609, 616 (6th Cir. 1998) (holding that request 
for benefits did not state a claim under ERISA §502(a)(3) and that to “rule in Wilkins’ favor 
would allow him and other ERISA claimants to simply characterize a denial of benefits as a 
breach of fiduciary duty, a result which the Supreme Court expressly rejected.”); Callery v. 
United States Life Ins. Co., 392 F.3d 401, 409 (10th Cir. 2004) (“[W]e must adhere to the 
Supreme Court’s rather emphatic guidance and therefore conclude that in a suit by a beneficiary 
against a fiduciary, the beneficiary may not be awarded compensatory damages as ‘appropriate 
equitable relief’ under §502(a)(3) of ERISA”).   
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benefits (id. Prayer p. 29).  But the very language of these demands gives lie to 

their true nature.  Demands for a “declaration” or “determination” of entitlement to 

benefits are nothing more than demands for benefits and are just the sort of 

window dressing that courts have rejected.  See, e.g., Great-West, 534 U.S. at 210 

(“Almost invariably… suits seeking (whether by judgment, injunction, or 

declaration) to compel the defendant to pay a sum of money to the plaintiff are 

suits for ‘money damages’. . ..  And money damages are, of course, the classic 

form of legal relief.” (citations omitted)). Count One should be dismissed for 

failure to state a claim under ERISA § 502(a)(3). 

D. Count Two Attempts To Allege A Claim For Interference With 
Pension Rights Under ERISA §510 But Is Barred By The Statute 
Of Limitations          

ERISA § 510, 29 U.S.C. § 1140, makes it unlawful to “discharge, fine, 

suspend, expel, discipline, or discriminate against a participant or beneficiary for 

exercising any right to which he is entitled under the provisions of an employee 

benefit plan . . . or for the purpose of interfering with the attainment of any right to 

which such participant may become entitled under the plan . . . .”  29 U.S.C. 

§ 1140.  Count Two invokes this section and alleges that defendants interfered with 

plaintiff’s pension rights by amending the Plan to exclude overtime and closing the 

Sand Mountain plant (SAC ¶ 127). 
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As an initial matter, Count Two is barred by the statute of limitations.  

Claims under ERISA § 510 in Alabama are governed by a two-year statute of 

limitations.  Musick v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 81 F.3d 136, 137 (11th Cir. 

1996).  The plant was closed in 1981 (SAC ¶ 59), and Plaintiffs assert that the Plan 

was amended to include the 95-hour rule in 1981 (SAC ¶68).  Thus, whether 

measured from the plant closing or the amendment of the plan, the time for filing 

suit expired twenty or more years before the filing of this case. 

The allegation regarding amendment of the Plan fails for an additional 

reason.  ERISA § 510 protects the “the employment relationship which gives rise 

to an individual’s pension rights.”  Deeming v. American Standard, Inc., 905 F.2d 

1124, 1127 (7th Cir. 1990). “This means that a fundamental prerequisite to a § 510 

action is an allegation that the employer-employee relationship, and not merely the 

pension plan, was changed in some discriminatory or wrongful way.”  Id. 

(emphasis added). The alleged amendment of the Plan is not an allegation directed 

at the employer-employee relationship and, therefore, cannot form the basis for a 

section 510 claim.  Count Two should be dismissed as a matter of law. 

Moreover, the Plan should also be dismissed from Count Two, because 

pension plans are not proper defendants in Section 510 claims.  See Degrave v. 

Nat’l Automatic Merchandising Assoc. Pension Plan, 392 F.Supp.2d 1032, 1035 

(N.D. Ill. 2005) (explaining that employer-employee relationship is the 
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“fundamental prerequisite” to a Section 510 claims and that pension plan is not 

involved in the changed relationship). 

E. Count Three Fails To State A Claim For Breach Of Fiduciary 
Duty            

Plaintiffs allege in Count Three of their complaint that they are entitled to 

“all appropriate equitable relief” for defendants’ alleged breach of fiduciary duty 

under ERISA § 404.  As an initial matter, this claim is barred by the relevant 

statute of limitations.  The events about which Plaintiffs complain took place more 

than twenty years ago – well beyond the generous six-year limitation period for 

breach of fiduciary duty claims.  29 U.S.C. § 1113. 

In addition, this claim fails because the alleged acts of amending the plan are 

not subject to fiduciary duties under ERISA.  Under ERISA, a fiduciary is defined 

as follows: 

“[A] person is a fiduciary with respect to a plan to the 
extent (i) he exercises any discretionary authority or 
discretionary control respecting management of such 
plan or exercises any authority or control respecting 
management or disposition of its assets, . . . or (iii) he has 
any discretionary authority or discretionary responsibility 
in the administration of such plan.”  29 U.S.C. 
§ 1002(21)(A) (emphasis added). 

An entity is a fiduciary only when and “to the extent” that it performs one of the 

prescribed duties and thus may be a fiduciary when doing certain things, but it is 

entitled to act in its own interest when conducting business not regulated by 
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ERISA.  Pegram v. Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 225-26 (2000); Barnes v. A.S. Lacy, 

D.C., 927 F.2d 539, 544 (11th Cir. 1991); Gelles v. Skrotsky, 983 F.Supp. 1398 

(M.D. Fla. 1997)(relying on John Hancock Mutual Life Ins. Co. v. Harris Trust & 

Savings Bank, 510 U.S. 86 (1993)). 

When amending a plan to change benefits, plan sponsors “are no more the 

employees’ ‘fiduciaries’ than when they decide what wages to offer or whether to 

close the plant and lay the workers off.”  Johnson v. Georgia Pacific Corp., 19 F.3d 

1184, 1188 (7th Cir. 1994).  See Burns v. Rice, 39 F.Supp. 2d 1350 (M.D. Fla. 

1998)(relying on Johnson, 19 F.3d 1184); Gelles v. Skrotsky, 983 F.Supp. 1398 

(M.D. Fla. 1997).  In this case, defendants simply were not performing a fiduciary 

function when deciding to amend the Plan.  See, e.g., McGrath v. Auto-Body 

North Shore, Inc., 7 F.3d 665 (7th Cir. 1993)(holding no fiduciary duty owed to 

plaintiff when defendant amended plan repeatedly for sole purpose of excluding 

plaintiff). 

F. Count Four Fails To State A Claim For Wrongful Reduction Of 
Accrued Service Because ERISA § 204(g) Does Not Apply To The 
Vesting Of Benefits.         

ERISA § 204(g) provides that “[t]he accrued benefit of a participant under a 

plan may not be decreased by an amendment of the plan,” subject to certain 

exceptions.  29 U.S.C. § 1054(g).  It thus protects “accrued benefits”— that is the 
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amount of the benefit set aside for a particular individual.  This provision simply 

has no application to the present allegations. 

As the Eleventh Circuit recently concluded in the related Gilley matter, 

Plaintiffs’ allegations do not amount to a violation of Section 204(g) claim. 490 

F.3d at 858-59.  Plaintiffs’ averments do not involve accrual of benefits (i.e., the 

amount of the earned benefit) but rather “vesting” (i.e., the determination of 

whether a participant has earned entitlement to a benefit). Id. 

Because Plaintiffs’ allegations relate to their purported entitlement to a 

pension, rather than the amount of an already-vested benefit, Section 204(g) has no 

application here.  Id. 

G. Count Five Fails To Allege The Required Elements Of An 
Estoppel Claim For Benefits.        

The Eleventh Circuit has created “a very narrow common law doctrine under 

ERISA for equitable estoppel” – and Plaintiffs have not stated a claim under it.  

Katz v. Comprehensive Plan of Group Ins., 197 F.3d 1084, 1090 (11th Cir. 1999).  

It is only available when “(1) the provisions of the plan at issue are ambiguous, and 

(2) representations are made which constitute an oral interpretation of the 

ambiguity.”  Id.; accord Alday v. Container Corp. of America, 906 F.2d 660, 666 

(11th Cir. 1990).  These limitations follow from the requirement that employee 

benefit plans be “established and maintained pursuant to a written instrument.”  29 

U.S.C. § 1102(a)(1).  “Congress rejected the use of informal written agreements to 
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modify an ERISA plan.”  Adams v. Thiokol Corp., 231 F.3d 837, 843 (11th Cir. 

2000) (quoting Nachwalter v. Christie, 805 F.2d 956, 960 (11th Cir. 1986) (citing 

Johnson v. Central States, SE & SW Areas Pension Fund, 513 F.2d 1173, 1174-75 

(10th Cir. 1975) (stating that benefits may not be enforced according to a company 

booklet and letter that are inconsistent with the terms of a written pension plan)). 

Here, the SAC lacks the required elements of an estoppel cause of action.  

There is no allegation of oral or written communications interpreting a Plan 

ambiguity.  Although mouthing the word “ambiguity,” the SAC identifies none in 

the Plan.  It asserts a supposed conflict between including overtime in the 

definition of Hours of Service while supposedly excluding overtime under the 95 

Hour Rule or elapsed time method (SAC ¶ 137).  But a review of the relevant 

provisions shows there is nothing unclear or inconsistent.  The Plan defines Hours 

of Service pursuant to ERISA regulations (29 C.F.R. § 2530.200b-2; Apdx A 

§ 17.5(a)).  The Plan then adopts the 95-Hour equivalency to count hours of 

service for salaried employees (Apdx A § 17(f)).  The 95-Hour equivalency 

accounts for overtime by crediting employees with 15 hours of overtime for each 

semi-monthly period.  The SAC thus fails to allege the requisite elements of an 

equitable estoppel claim under controlling Eleventh Circuit precedent and should 

be dismissed as a matter of law. 
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H. All Parties Other Than The Committee Are Improper Parties 
And Should Be Dismissed for This Additional Reason.    

“The proper party defendant in an action concerning ERISA benefits is the 

party that controls administration of the plan.”  Garren v. John Hancock Mut. Life 

Ins. Co., 114 F.3d 186, 187 (11th Cir. 1997).  The Plan names the defendant 

Committee as the plan administrator (Apdx. A § 12).  Other defendants  Monsanto 

Company, Pharmacia Corporation, Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ 

Pension Plan, and the non-existent Monsanto Company Employee Benefits 

Executive Committee are not proper parties and the claims against them must be 

dismissed.  In addition, the Plan should be dismissed from Count Two (alleging 

violation of Section 510), as it had nothing to do with any employee-employer 

relationship alleged to have been improperly changed.  Degrave, 392 F.Supp.2d at 

1035. 

CONCLUSION 

All of the claims of the Plaintiffs other than Heptinstall, and Counts Two 

and Five of Heptinstall’s, should be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative 

remedies.  In addition, each count suffers from additional flaws requiring 

dismissal.  Count One should be dismissed because (1) ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) 

allows a claim for benefits under the terms of a plan, and Plaintiffs lack ten years 

of vesting service under the terms of the Plan and (2) ERISA § 502(a)(3) cannot be 

used to claim benefits.  Count Two is barred by the governing statute of 
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limitations, and the alleged amendment of the plan is not conduct affecting the 

employment relationship.  Count Three is defective because it is untimely and 

because Plaintiffs have not alleged any breach of a fiduciary duty. Count Four 

should be dismissed because ERISA § 204(g) applies only to accrual (amount) of 

already-vested benefits and does not apply to vesting (entitlement).  Count Five 

fails to state a claim for estoppel because it does not allege the required elements 

under Eleventh Circuit law.  Finally, all of the Defendants other than the 

Committee are improper parties to this suit.  For the above reasons, the SAC 

should be dismissed as a matter of law. 

Respectfully submitted, 

By /s/ Darci Madden 
Jeffrey S. Russell 
Darci F. Madden 
Bryan Cave LLP 
One Metropolitan Square 
211 N. Broadway, Suite 3600 
St. Louis, Missouri  63102 
(314) 259-2000 
(314) 259-2020 (facsimile) 

Joel Dillard 
Donald R. James, Jr. 
Baxley, Dillard, Dauphin, McKnight 
& Barclift 
2008 Third Avenue South 
Birmingham, Alabama  35233 
(205) 271-1100 (telephone) 
(205) 271-1108 (facsimile) 

Attorneys for Defendants 
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